I. 	 ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The Circuit Court erred in admitting the testimony and reports of 

CDS experts Douglas C. Wise, Robert D. Sokolove and Justin Reel. 


1. 	 CDS's experts' testimony and reports are inadmissible under Rules 
702 and 703 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. 

2. 	 A Wetlands Mitigation Bank does not constitute a cognizable 
property interest. 

B. CDS's expert witness opinions and conclusions are based upon 
frustration of business plans, which are speculative and inadmissible. 

C. CDS's experts impermissibly incorporated business profit into their 
opinions of value. 

D. The Circuit Court erred when it permitted CDS to call a late
disclosed expert witness in its rebuttal case. 

II. 	 STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

The present Petition arises from the Judgment Order and Trial Order 

entered June 28, 2016 and the Order Denying Petitioner's Motion for New Trial 

entered November 15, 2016. The Petitioner ("DOH") appeals the Circuit Court's 

denial of the Petitioner's Motion for a New Trial. The Judgment Order requires 

DOH to pay the Respondent CDS Family Trust, LLC ("CDS") the sum of 

$3,309,1721 plus ten percent (10%) interest thereon until paid. The trial 

concerned just compensation to be paid the property owner for the surface 

interests taken for environmental mitigation and alleged damages to the residue 

of Parcel 4 in the Davis to Bismark section of Corridor H, Project No. X347-H

72.85. AR 150-156. CDS owned only the surface rights in the subject property. 

AR 3-14. 

1 $3,458,972 minus DOH's original deposit of $149,800. 
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The coal underlying the subject property was owned by WPP, LLC, on the 

date of take. Tr. pg. 342, lines 12-17; pg. 574, lines 1-6. In Tucker County Civil 

Action 12-C-45, WV DOH vs. WPP, LLC the coal owner was paid $1,484,700 for 

said coal. Tr. pg. 591, pp. 7-12. DOH expert Phillip Lucas, P.E. of Summit 

Engineering testified to his valuation of the coal underlying the subject property, 

to-wit: $1,484,681. Tr. pg. 577, lines 14-19. 

The applicable Scheduling Order2 required amended expert witness 

disclosures from DOH by February 1, 2016 and from CDS by March 1, 2016. AR 

29-30. CDS disclosed appraiser Douglas C. Wise, RK&K, LLP biologist Justin 

Reel and attorney Robert D. Sokolove and their respective reports on March 1, 

2016. AR 31-34. DOH filed a Motion in Limine to Exclude Testimony of 

Respondent's Experts. AR 43-69. CDS filed its Response to Petitioner's Motion 

in Limine to Exclude Testimony of Respondent's Experts. AR 78-89. At the 

pretrial conference on May 4, 2016 the Circuit Court orally denied the Petitioner's 

Motion in Limine. The Pre-Trial Order, reflecting said ruling, was entered June 

21,2016. AR 146-148. 

On June 1, 2016, CDS disclosed rebuttal witness Patrick Gallagher for the 

first time. This "disclosure" included no substance of Mr. Gallagher's expected 

testimony. AR 101-103. On June 2, 2016, CDS provided DOH supplemental 

disclosure which purported to disclose the substance of Mr. Gallagher's expected 

testimony. AR 104-108. DOH moved to exclude Mr. Gallagher's testimony by 

Motion filed on June 10, 2016. AR 140-145. The Circuit Court denied DOH's 

2 Certain expert witness disclosures had occurred under earlier scheduling orders. 
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Motion to exclude Mr. Gallagher's testimony on Day 3 of the trial, permitting Mr. 

Gallagher to testify for CDS in its rebuttal case. Tr. pp. 597-598. 

The trial occurred on June 21-23,2016. AR 150-153. The Circuit Court 

later entered judgment against the DOH for the amount of the verdict in excess of 

the deposit and denied DOH's Motion for a New Trial. AR 154-156; 179-187. 

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. The Condemnation - On Nov. 30, 2011, DOH condemned 123.51 

acres of surface interests owned by CDS, depositing $149,800 as just 

compensation and obtaining defeasible title to the property on March 20, 2012, 

which was treated as the "date of take". AR 15-24. The jury returned a verdict of 

$3,458,972 in just compensation due the Respondent ($1,963,972 for the area 

taken and $1,495,000 for damages to the residue.) AR 149. 

The Petitioner condemned the following surface interests: 


Project X347-H-72.85, Parcel 4 

Parcel total before taking 778.49 ac. 

Tract 1 - Noncontrolled Access Right of Way 92.97 ac. 

Tract 2 - Noncontrolled Access Right of Way 30.54 ac. 

Total taken 123.51 ac. 
Residue remaining after take 654.98 ac. 

(AR 363) 

DOH acquired the property for permittee-managed environmental 

mitigation incident to its construction of Appalachian Corridor H. Tr. pg. 88, line 

18 to pro 91, line 14. The sale issue at trial was the fair market value of the land 

actually taken and damages, if any, to the residue of the property. AR 149. 

CDS disclosed reports from three expert witnesses in support of its 

position that, on the date of take, the property had the "potential" to be developed 
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as a wetlands mitigation bank and the credits sold for more than $5 million. 

These reports formed the basis for the expert witnesses' testimony at trial that 

the property should be valued as an actual permitted functioning wetlands 

mitigation bank and that just compensation exceeded $5 million. AR 248-345. 

DOH retained Certified General Appraiser Kent Kesecker of Berkeley 

Springs, West Virginia to appraise the subject property and to recommend an 

appropriate sum of just compensation. Mr. Kesecker's report was reviewed by 

review appraiser and Certified General Appraiser Phillip Swartz. Tr. pg. 369. Mr. 

Swartz recommended, and agents of the DOH approved, Mr. Kesecker's opinion 

that just compensation for the taking of CDS's property was $285,0003, of which 

damages to the residue were $00.00. Tr. pg. 464, lines 15-24. Mr. Kesecker 

found the highest and best use of the entire 779.49 acres before any taking to be 

"recreational and natural resource production". Tr. pg. 439, lines 2-14. 

It is uncontroverted that at no time prior to the taking had any steps been 

taken to construct a wetlands mitigation bank on the subject property. Tr. pg. 

646, line 24 to pg. 647, line 11. 

2. Robert Sokolove report and testimony 

a. Robert Sokolove report - Mr. Sokolove is a lawyer licensed in 

Delaware, with experience in the fields of wetland, stream and habitat mitigation 

banking. Nearly two pages of his nine-page report are dedicated to Mr. 

Sokolove's professional credentials and reflect no experience or training in real 

3 The Judgment Order correctly states that DOH's original deposit upon gaining right of entry and 
defeasible title on March 20, 2012 to the property taken was $149,800. The updated appraisal performed 
by Mr. Kesecker, which established just compensation as of the March 20, 2012 date of take, increased 
Mr. Kesecker's estimate to $285,000, but no additional deposit was made before trial. 
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estate valuation or appraisal. He proclaims his area of expertise as "wetland 

mitigation banker". AR 234-235. Mr. Sokolove was "asked to serve as an expert 

and formulate an expert opinion as to the viability and value of the subject land 

as a mitigation bank, at the time of the Notice of Condemnation." AR 234. He 

considered the "viability and value of a potential mitigation project in this 

instance" and noted that "this site, like every other site considered for mitigation 

banking purposes, must have certain ecological properties that make it a viable 

candidate for mitigation banking." AR 235-236. In reaching his conclusions, Mr. 

Sokolove "reviewed and relied on technical site information and data produced 

by RK&K, LLP ... in August of 2013." AR 236. 

The Sokolove report discusses "whether a site could qualify for mitigation 

banking" in analyzing "whether the CDS Family Trust site could serve as a 

mitigation bank and the economic viability of such an endeavor." AR 236-237. 

His analysis considers the economics of such a project, including "the ability to 

more easily than not produce the wanted site improvements at reasonable cost, 

the likelihood of project success, whether other similar projects obtain timely 

regulatory approval and the general regulatory climate as well as value 

considerations relative to the creation of mitigation credits. [He] considered 

all of these factors in determining whether the CDS Family Trust site could serve 

as a mitigation bank and the economic viability of such an endeavor." AR 236

237 (emphasis added). Sokolove's report concluded that "the site at issue was 

indeed capable of providing ecologically viable wetland and stream restoration 

credits [on the date of take.]" AR 237. He then adopted RK&K's findings that 
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"23.35 acre credits of wetland mitigation were likely to be available at the time of 

the condemnation take in this maUer." AR 238. Sokolove further adopted 

RK&K's conclusion that "1,739.17 stream mitigation credits could be obtained 

from the site at the time of the take." AR 239. 

In support of his ultimate conclusions, Mr. Sokolove claims that 

"mitigation bank credits were selling between $62,000 and $67,500 per acre

credit" on the date of take and that "[CDS] should be properly viewed as the 

beneficiary of a favorable, comparative market analysis as it would be able to 

develop a mitigation bank on its property for the purposes of producing wetland 

and/or stream restoration credits. In [his] opinion, therefore, the value of an 

acre-credit of wetland mitigation at the time of the take by the [DOH] was 

$65,000" and $250 per linear foot for the 1,739.17 stream restoration credits. 

AR 239. Mr. Sokolove ultimately concludes that, at the time of the taking, 

the 23.35 wetland acre-credits available to [CDS] should be valued at 

$1,517,750 and the stream restoration credits should be valued at 

$3,551,750, for a total "gross available credit value to the landowner ... of 

$5,069,500." AR 240. 

Mr. Sokolove calculates that "the cost of producing these mitigation bank 

credits" is $1,853,862. AR 240. In reaching this conclusion, Mr. Sokolove 

determined that the "landowner has at its nearby disposal sUbstantial 

construction equipment and staff that could be utilized for the design, 

construction, maintenance, and monitoring of the site as a mitigation bank", 

which he found to be "a significant benefit when considering the cost of a 
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mitigation bank project." He then reached a final conclusion that "the land taken 

by the West Virginia Department of Highways had a significant opportunity to be 

utilized as a mitigation bank" and that, on that basis, the net value of the land 

taken was $3,215,638 on the date of take. AR 241. Mr. Sokolove offered no 

opinions regarding damages to the residue of the property. 

The report contains no opinions regarding the fair market value of the 

entire property before taking, no opinions as to the fair market value of the 

property taken, and no opinions as to the value of the residue of the property 

after the taking. Sokolove made no attempt to utilize any recognized methods of 

valuing real estate, such as the Sales Comparison Approach, the Cost Approach 

or the Income Capitalization Approach. AR 235-242. 

b. Robert Sokolove testimony - Mr. Sokolove's testified consistently 

with his report, reiterating his many qualifications in the field of wetlands 

mitigation banking and the sale of banking credits. DOH's objection to Mr. 

Sokolove's qualifications to testify to the fair market value of property in West 

Virginia, as well as his failure to employ proper appraisal methodology, were 

overruled, as were several subsequent objections. Tr. pp. 167-175; pg. 208; pg. 

210. Mr. Sokolove admitted that wetlands mitigation banking "is a complex 

business" involving construction, engineering and understanding how to sell 

wetlands credits to "get your values". He is "on the business side". Tr. pg. 

194, lines 15-23. See also Tr. pg. 168, line 17; pg. 185, line 23; pg. 187, line 19 

(emphasis added). The work needed to obtain the credits includes engineering, 

construction, planting [desirable wetlands vegetation], and bonding to comply 
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with regulations to achieve the "net value" of the land, which reflects the multi

step process of creating a wetlands mitigation bank and the process of selling the 

credits. Tr., pg. 196, line 6 to pg. 202, line 11. The permitting process requires 

navigating the regulations of an Interagency Review Team (IRT), the U.S. Army 

Corps of Engineers, U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, U.S. EPA and several other 

federal and state agencies. Tr., pg. 205, line 23 to pg. 208, line 17. 

Mr. Sokolove was permitted to testify that the "highest and best use" of the 

subject property is "wetlands mitigation banking". Tr. pg. 210, lines 2-7. He 

admitted that he considered no sales of actual properties to reach this 

determination. Tr. pg. 222, line 17 to pg. 223, line 4. Mr. Sokolove reiterated 

that, on Mar. 20, 2012, a willing buyer would pay $3,551,000 for the area taken, 

because then he could re-sell the credits for over $5 million later. Tr. pg. 177, 

line 10 to pg. 181, line 5. 

3. The RK&K reports and Justin Reel's testimony 

a. "CDS Trust Wetlands Delineation and Stream Corridor Assessment 

Report" - The Executive Summary describes how RK&K conducted a "wetlands 

delineation, stream corridor assessment, and potential mitigation assessment on 

the CDS Trust property taken by WV DOH on May 20-21 and June 4-5, 2013. 

These natural resources assessments determined the potential compensatory 

mitigation credits available on the CDS property ... The total number of stream 

segment mitigation credits provided by preserving and enhancing the streams on 

the take property is 1,739.17. The total number of wetland mitigation credits 

provided by preserving existing wetlands, enhancing wetlands, and creating new 
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wetlands on the CDS property is 23.35 ... RK&K was retained to determine the 

mitigation potential of the site." AR 192. The report goes on to explain in detail 

the "Wetland Mitigation Opportunities" on the property, including the areas of 

potential wetland enhancement and potential wetland creation areas. AR 195. 

Table 1, "Wetlands Mitigation Credits", explains the mitigation credit ratios 

applicable to develop 23.35 wetlands mitigation credits on the CDS property. AR 

196. The section on "Stream Mitigation Opportunities", outlines the restoration 

process necessary to "promote greater ecological function and long-term 

stability" in Beaver Creek. AR 197. Table 2, "Stream Segment Mitigation 

Credits", explains how restoration of Beaver Creek would result in the said 

1,739,173 stream mitigation credits. AR 198. 

b. "CDS Trust Technical Report: Stream Assessment. Wetland 

Delineation, and Mitigation Potential" - This report contains the scientific data and 

analysis to support the aforementioned "CDS Trust Wetlands Delineation and 

Stream Corridor Assessment Report". AR 221-228. The RK&K reports contain 

no data, opinions or conclusions regarding the fair market value of the CDS 

Family Trust property on March 20, 2012. 

c. Justin Reel testimony - Mr. Reel is an environmental scientist. Tr. 

pg. 104, lines 16-17. Mr. Reel's testimony was consistent with his report. If DOH 

had not taken the CDS property, his next step would have been to develop a 

mitigation proposal to take to the Interagency Review Team to start negotiations 

to build a wetland bank. Tr. pg. 137, lines 1-9. Mr. Reel offered no opinion as to 

the value of the subject property or wetland mitigation credits. AR 192-232. 
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4. Report and testimony of Douglas C. Wise 

a. Douglas C. Wise report - Douglas C. Wise was retained by CDS for 

the purpose of estimating the total just compensation due CDS for the taking 

effected in this case and damages to the residue, if any. AR 249. Mr. Wise's 

report and testimony were admitted over DOH's Motion in Limine and over 

DOH's objection at trial. AR 146-148, Tr. pg. 256. Mr. Wise's opinions as to 

value of the fee simple interest in the property on the report's effective date of 

Mary 20, 2012 are summarized as follows: 

"Value of the entirety of the property before taking $5,670,000 
Value of the area taken (123.51 ac.) $2,685,000 
Value of residue after the take $ 895,000 
Damages to the residue $2,090,000 
TOTAL JUST COMPENSATION $4,775,000" 

AR 249-250 (emphasis original) 

Mr. Wise acknowledges repeatedly in his report and in his testimony that 

he knows virtually nothing about wetlands mitigation banking and merely adopted 

Mr. Sokolove and RK&K's opinions and conclusions. The Sokolove report is 

appended to Mr. Wise's report in its entirety. AR 336-345. Mr. Wise notes, "[t]he 

value of the mitigation bank located on the subject was limited to the study area 

examined by both RK&K and Mr. Robert Sokolove. In estimating the value of the 

entirety, further investigation into the remaining wetland areas were examined 

based on the opinion of RK&K and Mr. Sokolove. The credits for these areas 

were estimated based on the assumptions of these parties as to the ecological 

properties for mitigation banking." AR 254. 

Mr. Wise defines a "Mitigation Bank" as follows: 
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"The EPA defines a mitigation bank as a wetland, stream, or 
other aquatic resource area that has been restored, established, 
enhanced, or (in certain circumstances) preserved for the purpose 
of providing compensation for unavoidable impacts to aquatic 
resources permitted under Section 404 or a similar state or local 
wetland regulation. A mitigation bank may be created when a 
government agency, corporation, nonprofit organization, or other 
entity undertakes these activities under a formal agreement with a 
regulatory agency. Mitigation banks have four distinct components: 

The bank site: the physical acreage restored, 
established, enhanced or preserved; 
The bank instrument: the formal agreement between the 
bank owners and regulators establishing liability, 
performance standards, management and monitoring 
requirements, and the terms of bank credit approval; 
The Interagency Review Team (IRT): the interagency 
team that provides regulatory review, approval, and 
oversight of the bank; and 
The service area: the geographic area in which 
permitted impacts can be compensated for at a given 
bank." 

AR 258. 

Mr. Wise also notes that ''The value of a bank is defined in 'compensatory 

mitigation credits.' A bank's instrument identifies the number of credits available 

for sale and requires the use of ecological assessment techniques to certify that 

those credits provide the required ecological functions. Although most mitigation 

banks are designed to compensate only for impacts to various wetland types, 

some banks have been developed to compensate specifically for impacts to 

streams (i.e., stream mitigation banks). Mitigation banks are a form of 'third

party' compensatory mitigation, in which the responsibility for compensatory 

mitigation implementation and success is assumed by a party other than the 

permittee. This transfer of liability has been a very attractive feature for Section 

404 permit-holders, who would otherwise be responsible for the design, 
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construction, monitoring, ecological success, and long-term protection of the 

site." AR 258. Wise observes that "[a] mitigation bank sponsor sells 

compensatory mitigation credits to permittees whose obligation to provide 

compensatory mitigation is then transferred to the mitigation bank sponsor. 

Where proposed impacts are located within the service area of an approved 

mitigation bank and the bank is determined to be ecologically appropriate and 

environmentally desirable to other mitigation alternatives, the permittee's 

compensatory mitigation requirements may be met by securing those credits 

from the sponsor. The bank must provide the appropriate number and resource 

type of credits." AR 260. 

Mr. Wise's report claims to have fully developed only the Sales 

Comparison Approach4. AR 298,333. The report notes that "the valuation of the 

mitigation bank estimated by Mr. Robert D. Sokolove, Esquire has been utilized 

for this part of the value estimate." AR 298. 

The Wise report states that the Highest and Best Use of the subject 

property on the date of take, as Vacant, would be MITIGATION BANK AND 

RECREATIONAL USE PROPERTY. AR 311 (emphasis original). He separated 

the property into two sections based on alleged differing highest and best uses. 

AR 315-319. Mr. Wise's report is replete with definitions and discussions of 

topics relating to wetlands mitigation banking which, for the sake of brevity, are 

not reproduced in this brief. AR 306-310. Notably, none of this discussion 

4 "The Sales Comparison Approach reflects what typical buyers will pay for a certain property by 
comparing that property to others which have sold offering similar amenities. This was the only 
applicable approach for this appraisal." ... "[The income] approach was not used since the property does 
not have an anticipated income stream." AR 333. 
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reflects any actual experience by the appraiser in the area of wetlands mitigation 

banking. 

In reaching his "Before" value on the entirety of the property, Mr. Wise

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