m. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT. 


The Circuit Court properly conducted the trial of this case in all respects and did not 

abuse its discretion in any way. It correctly instructed the jury on the law to be applied in 

detennining just compensation (in accord with this Court's recent decision in W. Va. Dep't of 

Transp., Div. ofHighways, Corp. v. W. Pocahontas Props., L.P., 236 W.Va. 50, 777 S.E.2d 619 

(2015). It recognized that the experts presented on behalf of CDS were well-qualified in their 

fields and allowed thorough cross-examination by the WVDOH. It permitted the jury to 

personally view the condemned property. In short, the Circuit Court committed no error in this 

case, either before or during trial. 

Although the WVDOH brings this appeal in the guise ofobjections to the admissibility of 

expert testimony, this case is really only about one thing: the WVDOH wants to preclude a 

landowner in a condemnation proceeding from proving that the highest and best use of 

condemned property is as a mitigation bank. The reason is simple: the WVDOH wants to be 

able to condemn property with highly valuable ecological resources (e.g., wetlands and streams), 

use that property for compensatory mitigation for WVDOH construction projects, but then not 

have to pay the market price for property suitable for that use. 

Importantly, the WVDOH does not challenge the qualifications of any of CDS' expert 

witnesses. Instead, it asserts that the subject matter oftheir testimony - the suitability of the CDS 

Property for use as mitigation - was "speculative and inadmissible" because the WVDOH 

"condemned the property for environmental mitigation ... not for creation of a wetlands 

mitigation bank." Petitioner's Brief, p. 23. As the Circuit Court properly recognized, however, 

there is little functional difference between the two, and testimony about the value of the CDS 

Property for use as a mitigation bank (as well as for environmental mitigation in general) not 

only assisted the jury, but was critical to their consideration of the issues before it. 
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Compensatory mitigation is a mandatory part of the Section 404 Permit program under 

the federal Clean Water Act, and the WVDOH needs Section 404 Permits to construct Corridor 

H. The purchase of credits from a mitigation bank is the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers' 

preferred method for permittees (like the WVDOH in this case) to satisfy their compensatory 

mitigation obligations. As a result of the Corps' preference and the ease of use for project 

developers, the mitigation banking market is strong and growing. Indeed, this is the very reason 

the WVDOH condemned the CDS Property in this case. Moreover, the value of the CDS 

Property as a mitigation bank rests in the inherent characteristics of the land itself -- not upon 

some business that will be operated on the property in the future. Not only does mitigation 

represent recognized and valued highest and best use of property, therefore, but it represents a 

use that is preferred by the very federal agency that oversees mitigation under the federal Clean 

Water Act. 

As a result, the WVDOH has not come close to meeting its high burden of showing that 

the Circuit Court abused its discretion by allowing CDS' expert witnesses to testify about 

compensatory mitigation, the ecological resources located on the CDS Property, and mitigation 

banking. The Circuit Court's judgment order adopting the jury's verdict and its order denying 

WVDOH's motion for a new trial, therefore, should be affirmed. 

v. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT. 

The Circuit Court's Judgment Order of June 28, 2016, adopting the verdict of the jury, 

and the Circuit Court's November 15,2016 "Order Denying Petitioner's Motion for New Trial," 

reflect the proper application of settled law regarding the admission of expert testimony and the 

allowance of rebuttal witnesses. These dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided by 

this Court, and the facts and legal arguments regarding this appeal are adequately presented in 
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the parties' briefs and in the record on appeal. CDS therefore does not believe the decisional 

process would be significantly aided by oral argument, and it does not believe this appeal merits . 

oral argument under the criteria set forth in Rule I 8 (a) of the Rules ofAppellate Procedure. 

VI. ARGUMENT. 

A. 	 The Circuit Court Properly Admitted the Reports and Testimony of CDS 
Experts Douglas C. Wise, Robert D. Sokolove, and Justin Reel (Assignments of 
Error A and A.I) 

The WVDOH contends that the Circuit Court committed error by admitting the testimony 

and reports of the expert witnesses that CDS presented at trial. In doing so, the WVDOH 

fundamentally misconstrues and mischaracterizes the report and testimony of each of the expert 

witnesses and ignores basic, black-letter West Virginia law concerning the admissibility of 

expert testimony in a "hopeless attempt to shoehorn [a] square peg [of an unfavorable jury 

verdict] ... into [a] round hole" of abuse ofdiscretion by the Circuit Court. Petitioner's Brief, p. 

19. 

Simply put, Mr. Wise, an appraiser, provided expert testimony concerning the value of 

the Take Property, both before and after the Date of Take, and the damage to the value of the 

Residue caused by the condemnation. He, in tum, relied in part on the opinions ofMr. Sokolove, 

who provided expert testimony about the value of the Take Property, i.e., the wetlands and 

streams. Mr. Sokolove, in turn, relied upon the testimony of Mr. Reel, an environmental 

scientist who evaluated the physical characteristics of the CDS Property. Not only is the reliance 

by one expert on the opinions of another expert proper, but CDS' presentation of Mr. Wise, Mr. 

Sokolove, and Mr. Reel gave the jury the most complete and thorough opportunity to determine 

the crucial issues at trial. 
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1. Standard of Review of Admissibility of Expert Opinion Testimony.ls 

Initially, and importantly, the WVDOH does not challenge the qualifications of Douglas 

C. Wise as an expert appraiser (Tr. p. 256 ("Your Honor, the Petitioner doesn't question his 

qualifications as an appraiser[.]"), of Robert D. Sokolove as a mitigation banking expert (Tr. p. 

174), or of Justin Reel as an environmental expert (Tr. p. 105).16 Rather, the WVDOH objects to 

the substance of Mr. Wise's opinions because part of his opinions -- concerning the value of the 

wetlands and stream portions of both the Take Property and the Residue -- relied upon the expert 

opinions provided by Mr. Sokolove and Mr. Reel. Likewise, the WVDOH objects to the 

admissibility of the reports and testimony ofMr. Sokolove and Mr. Reel because, taken together, 

they gave expert opinions on the suitability and value of the Take Property being used as a 

mitigation bank:. In other words, the WVDOH objected to the substance of the testimony 

presented by each of these expert witnesses, not their qualifications to give such testimony. 

"[A] circuit court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed under an abuse of discretion 

standard. Gentry v. Magnum, 195 W.Va. 512, 520,466 S.E.2d 171, 179 (1995). As such, a 

"party challenging a circuit court's evidentiary rulings has an onerous burden because a 

reviewing court gives special deference to the evidentiary rulings of a circuit court." Gentry, 195 

W.Va. 518,466 S.E.2d 177. 

15 The WVDOH did not file a post-trial motion seeking a new trial on the basis that the testimony ofMr. 
Sokolove and Mr. Reel was inadmissible under W. Va. R. Evid. 702 or 703; hence, these issues were not 
properly preserved for appeal. As the WVDOH raised these issues in its Brief, however, CDS will 
address the testimony of each. 

16 The WVDOH makes the misguided statement that "[t]he Circuit Court committed reversible error 
when it permitted Douglas C. Wise, Robert Sokolove and Justin Reel to offer 'expert' appraisal testimony 
...." Petitioner's Brief, p. 25. Neither Mr. Sokolove nor Mr. Reel was offered as an "expert appraiser," 
and neither gave "appraisal testimony." Labeling Mr. Sokolove and Mr. Reel as "appraisers" represents a 
clumsy tactic by the WVDEP to hide the flimsy grounds for objecting to the testimony of both. 
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"Rule 702 reflects an attempt to liberalize the rules governing the admissibility of expert 

testimony .... What this means is that the rule 'is one of admissibility rather than exclusion.'" 

Harris v. CSX Transp., Inc. 232 W.Va. 617,620-623, 753 S.E.2d 275,279; (2013); In re Flood 

Litigation, 222 W.Va. 574, 581, 668 S.E.2d at 210, (internal citations omitted). Here, the Circuit 

Court ruled that Mr. Wise, Mr. Sokolove, and Mr. Reel qualified as expert witnesses in their 

respective areas of expertise and permitted each to testify. In doing so, the Circuit Court acted 

well within its discretion and should not be reversed. 

2. 	 The Circuit Court Properly Admitted the Report and Testimony of 
Douglas C. Wise, CDS' Expert Appraiser. 

a. 	 Mr. Wise's Opinion Testimony Was Admissible Under W. Va. 
R. Evid. 702. 

"Rule 702 [of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence] is the paramount authority for 

determining whether an expert is qualified to give an opinion on the value of real estate in an 

eminent domain proceeding. II West Virginia Div. ofHighways v. Butler, 205 W.Va. 146, 151, 

518 S.E.2d 769, 774 (1999). That rule "has three major requirements: (1) the witness must be an 

expert; (2) the expert must testify to scientific, technical or specialized knowledge; and (3) the 

expert testimony must assist the trier of fact." Gentry, 195 W.Va. 524,466 S.E.2d 183. Here, 

the WVDOH does not challenge whether Mr. Wise was an expert qualified to testify concerning 

his appraisal of the CDS Property, nor does it question his qualifications to give opinion 

testimony as to the value of the CDS Property for purposes of a condemnation action. Rather, it 

challenges whether the substance ofhis testimony should have been admitted at trial at all. 

i. 	 Mr. Wise's Testimony Relates to Technical or 
Specialized -- Not Scientific -- Knowledge. 

Mr. Wise's opinion testimony related to technical or specialized knowledge -- the 

valuation of real property in Tucker County, West Virginia, for purposes of a condemnation 
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proceeding. It did not relate to "scientific knowledge" and, therefore, did not need to meet the 

heightened scrutiny of admissibility required of "scientific knowledge" under Ru1e 702. See 

Gentry, 195 W.Va. 526-527, 466 S.E.2d 186. ("In other words, the question of admissibility 

under DaubertlWilt only arises if it is first established that the testimony deals with "scientific 

knowledge."). 

As a resu1t, "[t]he question is not one for analysis under peer review, rate of error and 

publication and general acceptance but whether, based upon the witness's experience, his opinion 

will assist the trier of fact." Gentry, 195 W.Va. 526-527, 466 S.E.2d 186. Here, Mr. Wise 

possessed approximately 40 years of experience in the appraisal field at the time of trial, 

including 25 years as a licensed real estate appraiser since passage of the law requiring licensure. 

Tr., pp. 254-255. In that time, he has performed "several thousand" appraisals, including "a lot 

of right-of-way work for eminent domain and condemnation." Tr., p. 255. 

Clearly, therefore, Mr. Wise had the "experience" necessary to provide "technical" or 

"specialized knowledge" opinion testimony under Ru1e 702. The only task for the Circuit Court, 

therefore, was to detemline whether Mr. Wise's opinion testimony wou1d "assist the trier of 

fact." 

ii. 	 Mr. Wise's Testimony About the Value of the Property 
Both Before and After the Taking Assisted the Jury. 

The WVDOH contends that the substance of Mr. Wise's testinl0ny was inadmissible 

because of "sloppy methodology ... in which Mr. Wise took the opinions and conclusions of 

others and purported to render expert opinions which are unsupported ...." Petitioner's Brief, 

pp.28-29. Even if the WVDOH was correct about Mr. Wise's methodology -- and it is not -

such does not render Mr. Wise's testimony inadmissible under Ru1e 702. As this Court noted in 

Gentry, "[D]isputes as to the strength of an expert's credentials, mere differences in the 
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methodology, or lack oftextual authority for the opinion go to weight and not to the admissibility 

of-their testimony. Gentry, 195 W.Va. 527,466 S.E.2d 186 (emphasis added) (citing Daubert, 

509 U.S. at 579, 596, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 2798, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469, 484 ("vigorous cross

examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof 

are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence")). As the 

WVDOH subjected Mr. Wise to '~vigorous cross-examination" and presented its own expert 

opinion evidence concerning the value of the Take Property and damage to the Residue, no error 

exists concerning the Circuit Court's admissibility ofMr. Wise's testimony under Rule 702. 

Further, Mr. Wise's reliance on reports, opinions and testimony of Mr. Sokolove and Mr. 

Reel, far from being a "sloppy methodology" in the appraisal field, represents the exact 

methodology expected of an appraiser. More importantly, however, Mr. Wise's methodology is 

expressly permitted under West Virginia law. Specifically, W. Va. R. Evid. 703 states that "[a]n 

expert may base an opinion on facts or data in the case that the expert has been made aware of or 

personally observed." In addition, Rule 703 states that "[i]f experts in the particular field would 

reasonably rely on those kinds of facts or data in forming an opinion on the subject, they need 

not be admissible for the opinion to be admitted." 

Mr. Wise specifically testified that, as an appraiser, he reasonably (and justifiably) relied 

upon the opinions ofMr. Sokolovand Mr. Reel: 

Q. 	 Is it customary for a certified appraisals -- appraisers to rely on the 
opinions of engineers and other professionals in order to determine 
the highest and best use? 

A. 	 We are required to rely on professionals.... Both in this case and 
[the Uniform Standards ofProfessional Appraisal Practice], a 
competency division, requires you to gain or be able to gain 
knowledge. Now, I did a lot ofreading up on mitigation banks and 
wetlands. And, in my opinion, you would have to be both an 
engineer to figure out the first part of it of what's there; and the 
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second part, an economist and in the field to estimate that value -
which I am not. But it does allow me to gain the competency. 

And an appraisal -- the Appraisal Institute, which I'm not a 
member of -- but published an article that stated for wetland 
appraising, it was advised or recommended -- the best way to do it 
was to obtain the biologists and the economists; which was done in 
this case and supplied for me to process the appraisal. 

Tr., p. 264. In short, Mr. Wise relied upon "facts and data" provided by Mr. Sokolove and Mr. 

Reel, who provided "facts and data" typically relied upon by an appraiser in preparing an 

appraisal that includes wetlands and streams that may be part of a mitigation bank. 

While the WVDOH complains that Mr. Wise's "sloppy methodology" included him 

"blindly accept[ing]" the valuation of mitigation credits "as reported to him by Mr. Sokolove[,]" 

(petitioner's Brief, p.28), this complaint ignores a commonly-accepted rule of law: "One expert 

may reasonably rely on another expert's opinion in forming his own." Capper v. Gates, 193 

W.Va. 9, 14,454 S.E.2d 54,59, (1994). As quoted by the Court in Capper: 

This means that the expert is permitted to learn the facts prior to 
trial by a variety ofmeans such as personal examination, 
firsthand investigation, files, reports ofother specialists, or the 
reports or comments ofprofessional observers. The only 
requirement is that the sources be reliable in the sense that they 
are normally relied on in the expert's field, even though these 
materials may not qualify for admission into evidence. 

Capper, 454 S.E.2d at 59, 193 W.Va. at 14 (quoting Graham C. Lilly, An Introduction to the 

Law ofEvidence; at 490 (2nd ed. 1987) (emphasis added)). 

Notably, Mr. Wise did not blindly accept, wholesale, all of Mr. Sokolove's opinions. As 

his report shows, Mr. Wise first researched and studied the areas of compensatory mitigation and 

mitigation banking and achieved a "comfort level" with the qualifications and expertise that Mr. 

Sokolove brought to bear on the project. A.R. 315-318, 333; Tr., pp. 264-265. He also 

conferred with Mr. Sokolove (and Mr. Reel) in conservatively estimating the extent of wetlands 
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and streams on the entire CDS Property (beyond the Take Property) that represent comparable 

mitigation resources. A.R. 315. Furthermore, whereas Mr. Sokolove' s opinion concerning the 

value of the mitigation credits attributable to the CDS Property was that the full value of the 

credits should be used, Mr. Wise discounted those values to reflect the time necessary (the 

"absorption period") to find a purchaser of those credits -- a discount that Mr. Wise felt was 

necessary from the viewpoint of an appraiser. Tr., pp. 264-266, 290-291; A.R. 317-318. In 

addition, Mr. Wise had numerous conversations with Mr. Sokolove for purposes of consulting 

with him as Mr. Sokolove developed a type of "sale comparison" analysis in valuing the likely

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